Mr.
COLEMAS.
Commission
Exhibit
So. Q-13, which
is a copy of the telegram
from
John E. Pit to Lee Oswald
in rare of the American
Embassy
in Moscow.
Representative
FORD. It may be admitted.
(The document
referred
to. previously
marked
as Commission
Exhibit
so.
Q13 for identification.
was received
in evidence.)
Mr. COLEMAN.
Commission
Exhibit
So. Q44. which
is the Operations
Memorandum,
dated August
28, 1%X
Representative
FORD. It may be admitted.
(The
document
referred
to. previously
marked
as (‘ommission
Exhibit
So.
Q-l4 for identification,
was received
in evidence.)
JIr. COLEJIAS.
Conunission
Exhibit
So. Q-6, whic.11 is a photostatic
copy of the
handwritten
notes
which
Mr.
JIcVickar
made
when
he interviewed
Marina
Oswald
in the Embassy
on July 10 or July ll,lQ61.
Representative
FORD. It n1a.r be admitted.
(The
document
referred
to. previously
marked
as Cnmuiissinu
Exhibit
So.
Q4.5 for identification.
was rweived
in erideuce.)
Mr. COLE~XAS.
Commission
Exhibit
So. !l.Xl, which is a copy of the petition
to
classify
status
of alien for issuance
of immigrant
visa filled out by Lee Oswald
on behalf of Marina
Oswald
in .July lQ61.
Representative
FORD. It may be admitted.
(The document
referred
to, previously
marked
as Commission
Exhihit
So.
Q5Q for identification,
was received
in evidence.)
Mr. COLEMAN.
And also Commission
Exhibit
So. Q5X. whirl1
is the memnrandum of Mr. McVickar,
dated April 7, 1%.
Representative
FORD. It may be admitted.
(The
document
referred
to, previously
marked
as Commission
Exhibit
So.
Q58 for identification,
was received
in evidence.)
.
Representative
FORD. Are we going to admit
as exhibits
this State Department
answer?
Mr. COLEMAN.
Yes; I thought
when we finished
with Mr. Chayes
then we will
offer all the exhibits,
and during
that time I was going to identify
the State
Department
earlier
memorandum
and the other documents.
Mr. DULLES.
All this will then go in.
Mr. COLEMAN.
Oh, yes ; that is all going in.
Representative
FORD. I think
it is well to get that nne document
paraphrased,
but I think
from
what
Mr. Chases
said the other
one, there
shouldn’t
be any
problem.
Unless
there
is something
else the Commission
will
recess until
Q o’clock
tomorrow
morning.
(Whereupon,
at 6 :20 pm.. the I’residrnt’s
Commission
recessed.)
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TESTIMONY
The
CHAIRJIAS.
The
stand.
Mr. Coleman,
Mr.
COLEJ~AN.
Mr.
we were
talking
about
the issuance
of passports.
Mr.
CHAYES.
Yes;

OF

ABRAM

CHAYES

RESUMED

Commission
will
come
to order.
Mr.
Chayes
is on the
you may
continue
the examination.
Chayes,
at the
adjournment
of your
testimony
yesterday,
section
51.136,
State
Department
regulations
dealing
with
Mr.

Coleman.

Mr.
COLEJ~AN.
Could
you tell us the circumstances
in which
the State
Department
feels
it can refuse
a passport
based
upon
the regulations?
Mr.
CHAYES.
Yes;
there
are some
fairly
regular
categories
of refusals
under
that
section.
The
first
is a violation
of a travel
restriction.
As you know,
the
section
has from
time
to time
placed
certain
areas
out of bounds
for
travel
by
U.S. citizens
without
a specially
validated
passport.
I think,
yesterday,
Mr. Dulles
read
into
the record,
from
the Oswald
passport,
the then
applicable
area
restrictions.
And
if a person
having
a passport
violates
these
restrictions,
let’s
say
travels
to (‘ommuniat
China
without
a specifically
validated
passport,
we regard
that
as warranting
the withdrawal
of the passport
under
section
51.136.
Now
I have
to say that
I think
in one case,
the case
of William
Worthy,
a
withdrawal
of a passport
under
those
circumstances
was
sustained.
However,
when
he later
traveled
without
a passport,
and then
reentered
the country
without a passport,
which
is a violation
of the
passport
laws
as they
read
on the
books,
he was
indicted
and
prosecuted
in the
district
court,
convicted,
and
on
appeal
the conviction
was
reversed
on the ground
that
it was
unconstitutional
to make
reentry,
without
a passport,
an offense.
That
case
has
not
been
appealed
to the
Supreme
Court.
Mr.
COLEXAP*‘.
Is that
the case
that
was
in the
Fifth
Circuit?
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
When

CHAYES.
I think
so.
COLEMAN.
It came
up from
the Federal
District
Court
CHAYES.
New
Orleans,
it came
up from
New Orleans.
DULLES.
This
applies
to American
citizens
of course?
CHAYES.
American
citizens.
Only
American
citizens
we are dealing
with
aliens,
we are in the visa
area.

in

Florida?

can

get

passports.

Mr.
DULLES.
Yes.
Mr.
CHAYES.
Now
the
travel
restrictions,
the
area
restrictions
are
under
attack
in a number
of other
cases,
that
come
up in different
procedural
ways.
But
we have
in the past,
and
will
continue
to do so until
we are told
otherwise,
withdrawn
passports
under
51.136
from
people
who
have
violated
travel
restrictions.
The
next
category
is fugitives
from
justice.
There
if a person
is under
indictment
or even
if there
is a warrant
for
his arrest,
certainly
if he has been
convicted,
we will
not
issue
a passport
to him
to permit
him
to depart.
In the
Kent
case,
the
Supreme
Court
recognized
this
as one of the
well-defined
categories
in which
the
Secretary’s
discretion
to withhold
a passport
was confirmed
by practice
and experience.
As I say, the fugitive
from
justice
category
is one that
operates
on the whole
within
the
United
States.
If a man
is abroad
and
is indicted,
we will
not
ordinarily
withdraw
his
passport
abroad
or mark
his passport
good
only
for
direct
return
to the
United
States.
We
never
articulated
the
rationale
for
that,
but essentially
it doesn’t
really
fall
within
our notion
of (a),
(b),
or (c) of
51.136,
and our motion
is that
the remedy
against
persons
abroad
who are charged
with
crime
is extradition
rather
than
the use of the passport
power
to get them
returned.
Now,
a third
category
is passport
fraud,
where
someone
has
in fact
acted
in one way
or another
to make
fraudulent
use of the passport
itself.
We have
withdrawn
passports
under
those
circumstances.
Then
there
is a miscellaneous
category,
which
doesn’t
include
too many,
For
instance,
in one case
a man
was convicted
in the Federal
Republic
of Germany
for
attempting
to acquire
knowledge
of state
secrets.
Another
man
had
been
involved
in a number
of fraudulent
schemes
in various
countries,
issued
worth-
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less checks. He was arrested in Australia
for fraud and subsequently convicted and sentenced to jail there.
Another one paid for his passport renewal with a worthless check. That in
itself is perhaps in the passport fraud category. Left the United States paying
for his passage with a worthless check. He represented himself to be an
employee of the U.S. Government on leave and continued to put out worthless
checks, using his passport for identification.
We have summarized these actions
under these categories in a letter which I sent to Mr. Rankin, on June 6. It
contains a list of the actions in these categories in the years 1Q6%G4--through
Alarch of 1964.
Mr. COLE&IAN. Can the record note that the original of that letter has been
given Commission Exhibit No. Q49?
Mr. CHAYES. Very good. Now it should be said that there is one category
here that does not appear in the list that we have attached to the letter,
although it is explained in a paragraph, the third paragraph of the letter, and
that is in fact the category that Oswald himself was in, in 1961, when he
wanted to come back. That is where there is a person abroad who is in some
kind of trouble at the time, or who is anxious to leave where he is and come
right back to the United States, as Oswald did.
We issue a passport as the regulation says, for direct and immediate return
to the United States. And that action is taken under section 136. But since
it is taken abroad, heretofore there has been no central list of the actions of
that kind in the Department’s
files. As a result of the Commission’s inquiry
a list is being maintained from here on out, but it is not pussible with&t
going
through a million passport ales, to find when action of that kind was taken in
the past. I know of a number of cases of my own knowledge where this
happened.
For example, one or two, a man and his wife, of the students who went to
Cuba last year went on to Morocco, and got into trouble with the Moroccan
police and so on, and we marked their passport for immediate return.
I am told
that the names of those two students are listed under category (a), in 1963
on the list. Their passports were withdrawn
because they had violated the
travel restrictions, but also, for most of the students we didn’t do anything
about the passports until they got back to the United States when we withdrew
them, but in their particular
case, because they got in trouble with the
Moroccan authorities and were pretty obstreperous about it, we marked their
passport good only for direct and immediate return.
Another case that I remember, in my own experience, was a case of a
notorious gun runner in the Congo, who was running guns to the Katangese
rebels during the Congo operation, and he was apprehended by the Congolese
authorities.
We didn’t want him to be tried, and the Congolese didn’t want to
try him if we didn’t want him to be tried. On the other hand they didn’t want
him around there either.
So we marked his passport good for direct and immtiiate
return.
In other
words, those cases are cases where you can find either some form of trouble
which makes the applicant, the passport holder want to go directly home, and
us want to make him go directly home, or some very immediate and direct
relation to our relations with that particular country. And as I said yesterday,
we have taken the view that it can never be done solely, because of political
activities or political
associations or the exercise of speech. It has to be
something beyond that.
Mr. COLEMAN. I take it that judgment is effected in part by the holding of
the Supreme Court in the Kent v. DuZZes case.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; it derives from that. The Kent case said that the Secretary was not entitled without statutory authorization,
at least as we have
read the case, was not entitled in the absence of statute, to withhold a passport
on grounds related to political association and beliefs.
Mr. COLEMAN. Yesterday you tsstified that you had reviewed all of the
State Department
files dealing with Oswald, and you paid attention to those
files as they existed as of June 1963, and that it was your judgment that the
Passport Office could not have refused to issue a passport to Oswald in June
1963.
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Mr. CHAYE~. It is my judgment that the passport was properly issued in June
of 1963 ; yes, sir.
Mr.
COLEMAN.
You know that in October 1963, the Passport Office received
information
that Mr. Oswald had been at the Russian Embassy in Mexico.
Would that information have changed the result at all, in your judgment?
Mr. CHAYES. No, sir; that information
by itself could not have affected the
result. As a matter of fact, as you know, the passport application
itself indicated that Oswald wanted to travel to Russia, and the mere fact that he had
gone to the Russian Embassy in Mexico, would not of itself have been a disqualifying event.
Representative FORD. Even despite the past history?
Mr. CHAYES. I think that is correct. In other words, by itself it doesn’t
disqualify the applicant because there is no suggestion here that even-first
of
all could I review the message that came in on October 16, to the Department.
I think I may have it in my own document here.
(Discussion off the record.)
Mr. CHAYEB. All that is suggested here is that he was in the Embassy and he
contacted the Soviet Embassy about a telegram which had been sent. Now,
there is nothing from that, I don’t think, that adds anything or permits us
to infer in any way that his travel abroad would be inimical to the foreign
policy of the United States or otherwise harmful to the national interest, or
that he was going abroad to violate U.S. law.
I think this can be said, and I don’t thing it should be said in criticism of the
people who made the decision at the time, because I think the decision at the
time and on the basis of our procedures and on the basis of our experience was
prl;>er.
Mr. DULLES. May I ask at that pointThe CHAIRMAN.
May he finish? He hadn’t finished that statement.
Mr. CHAYES. I was going to say looking at it in retrospect and knowing what
we now know, it seems to me it would have been desirable to have had some
means for triggering off a further investigation of this kind, of a passport applicant, or a passport holder, on the basis of that kind of information.
If the
further investigation had turned nothing else up, it seems to me clear that he
was entitled to a passport on the state of the file as it then existed.
The only issue is whether the state of the file showed enough to start or to
instigate a further investigation of the purpose and plans for his travel abroad.
What you could have done is hard to speculate about. You might have called
him in and asked him about his travel plans. You might have made inquiries
among friends and relatives about his plans, and so on, and that might have
turned up evidence that would have suggested that his proposed travel abroad
fell within one of these categories and it would have warranted the withdrawal
of his passport.
Because of our review of these procedures, in the light of what happened,
as we said yesterday, we now have established a defector category in the lookout
card file, and people of this kind who apply for passports now won’t get them
routinely, even though the state of the file as it then exists would warrant
the issuance of a passport.
But there will be a review of the file and any necessary furthpr or any indicated further investigatory
steps, if a defector does
apply for a’passport.
You say why didn’t you have those procedures before?
Why did it take this kind of a thing to do it ? To stimulate a new procedure?
The answer is simply that nothing in our past experience at all suggested anything like this kind of trouble.
Of course the ultimate result, the ultimate
assassination wasn’t related in any way to the passport decisions. But it has
drawn our attention more closely to the problem of defectors in this connection.
I should add one general point, and that is when we talk about passports in
this context, we tend to emphasize the very, very few bad apples of one kind
or another, and they are very few, who are not entitled to passports.
But the
fact is that the function of the Passport Office is not to deny passports to people.
It is to get passports to people. The Passport Ol&e puts out 1 million passPorts a Year. The great overwhelming
majority
of those people are ordinary
American citizens who want to get abroad for business or pleasure, and the
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ability of the Passport OlIlce to furnish them with passport facilities, in very
short order, is of tremendous service, and tremendous convenience to them.
That is the primary function of the Passport Office. It has of course the
duty of administering
these denial and withdrawal
statutes.
But that is not
its primary function.
Its primary function is to get passport facilities to the
great bulk of Americans who have legitimate business abroad.
It is dealing
with a million or more applications a year, and millions of bits of information,
like this piece we have just been talking about, I think when you see things
in that perspective it is perhaps easier to evaluate some of the decisions and
some of the actions taken here.
Representative FORD. But I think you have to turn the coin over. There are
millions of passport applications,
or a million plus. But there are only very
tew such as Mr. Oswald, or people in the defector category.
So the problem
there I don’t think is as serious an administrative
one as you would tend to
imply.
Mr. CHAYES.
No; I am not suggesting it is, and in fact I think we have by
a relatively simple administrative
action taken the steps which will assure
that in the future applications
from this kind of person will receive a more
elaborate review.
AR I am saying is that if you ask why that wasn’t done before, it is be
cause the experience didn’t indicate that there was a problem, and that is
because that isn’t the main business of the Passport Office. Tts main business
is not the business of a security agency which goes around focusing or is
supposed to be focusing on security problems.
Its main business is that of
a processing agency.
Representative FORD. But we have vast resources of people in the Government
who are, or who do have security as a main business, and it seems to me that
it is vitally important that those people and those vast resources somehow tie
into the administrative
process of denying or refusing passports under unique
circumstances.
Mr. CHAYEB.
They do. That is any of those agencies can levy a request on
the Passport Office for notification
when a passport is issued to any person.
If the FBI or the CIA or the Secret Service or any other security or law
enforcement agency is interested, or the U.S. court, the Federal district court
or the district attorney’s office, any agency of that kind which is interested in
knowing whether a particular
person has applied for passport facilities may
levy a request. That request would be serviced by placing a lookout card in
the file which would then automatically involve notification of that agency when
that person applied for a passport.
Mr. DULLES. Isn’t there a broader point than that though, because the security agencies don’t know in all cases what requirements
to levy. Now if in
this case, for example, in the Oswald case, if there had been this lookout card,
and you had notified let’s say the FBI and the CIA that the former defector
had applied for a passport and might be going abroad, then they can put in a
card, and then they can be helpful in following
that situation abroad.
Rut
they don’t know, if they don’t know that Oswald is going to apply, they have
no way of putting in their requirements.
In certain cases they can. But in a great many cases they cannot.
Mr. CHAYES.
Well, let me make two points. First, now under the new memorandum as to defectors, the FBI and CIA and other security agencies will
automatically
be notified whether they have made a request or not.
Second, as to most people who have lookout cards, the FBI and the other
security agencies couldn’t care less about whether they apply for passports.
Most of the lookout cards relate to loss of nationality,
not security issues at
all. So that there is a problem both ways. We can’t, the Department can’tit could notify the security agencies whenever a lookout card, a person as to
whom there was a lookout card applied for a passport.
But in 9 out of 10 cases that would be so much waste paper for the security
agency. There has to be a reciprocal effort at cooperation.
There is a recip
rocal effort at cooperation, and by and large it works very well. By and large
when the FBI is interested in somebody, it tells the Passport Office it is interested in them and they want to know if he comes for a passport.
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By and large the Passport Office knows people whom the FBI is interested
in, and when they apply for a passport or something like that, there is an
exchange of information.
It is interesting
that this CIA report got to the
Passport Office. It is a matter of routine.
All security reports of this kind
that originate in the security agencies, copies go to the Passpofi Office and
are put in the passport file. So that there is a great deal of coordination.
But in the nature of things it can’t be a perfect system when the two kinds
of responsibilities
are differently allocated, the security responsibility
in oue
case and the other responsibility
in another.
Representative FORD. When did the CIA report of the Mexican trip get into the
passport file?
Mr. CHAYES. It is not clear to me here. It is probably about l&114
is what
it looks like to me from the date, October 11, 1963. But on the other hand, note
that this report-we
pay a great deal of attention to the fact that it got into
the passport file. But the report itself originated in the CIA.
In other words, all the security agencies themCopy of it went to the FBI.
selves knew of this fact. As I say, myself, I think it did not change the character
of the file so as to warrant the withdrawal
of a passport from the passport admini&at&
point of view. But even if we had taken steps to withdraw
the
passport, it is hard to see how it had any impact on the result at all.
Representative
FORD. Leave aside the tragic result. Under your current procedures if such a situation developed, would there be an administrative
step
taken to try and retrieve the passport?
Mr. CHAYES.
Under current procedures what would have happened in June,
when he first made application, was that there would have been a lookout card
in the file, and before automatically
issuing a passport there would have been a
review of the file and some further investigative steps. Now that investigation
would have inquired into the purpose of travel abroad, and a determination
would then have been made whether the purpose of travel on the basis of the
file-and
remember when we do deny a passport we are then subject to hearing,
administrative
hearing and judicial review, and we have got to make the denial
and the evidence on which it is based stahd up in those circumstances-but
if we
determined that there was a basis then for denial we would have denied it then.
So the question wouldn’t have arisen later in October. If at the time in June
we h’ad determined after investigation
that there was no basis for denial, then
the passport would have been issued, and if a matter of this kind had come in,
there would have been, I suppose, an administrative
determination
to decide
whether, in the light of the earlier investigation, whether this new information
warranted
any further action or further investigation.
Representative FORD. Would it be your judgment that the June determination,
using your new criteria, would have resulted in a refusal of this passport?
Mr. CHAYES. Not op the basis of the file as then existed. It is hard to answer
your hypothetical question because under our new procedures there would have
been a further investigation
that would either have turned up some additional
material, or would have left the file in its present state. If there was no additional material suggesting the evil purposes or improper purposes for travel,
the decision to give a passport would have been the same as it was on the file.
On the basis of the file, the decision was properly made.
Representative FORD. Would you in the June determination
have had the files
from the Department of State which showed that on October 31 Oswald walked
into the American Embassy.
Mr. CHAYES. Oh, yes.
Representative FORD. And said “I, Lee Harvey Oswald, do hereby request that
my present citizeuship in the United States of America be revoked.”
Mr. CHAYES. Oh, yes; the entire file.
Representative
FORD. And would it also have had the one of November 3d
where he said “I, Lee Harvey Oswald, do hereby request that my present United
States citizenship be revoked”?
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; it would have had all of that.
Representative FORD. It would have had all of that?
Mr. CHAYES.
Yes.
Represeutative FORD. And it would have had th-
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Mr. &AYES. But it would also have had the determination
that he had failed
to expatriate himself and that he was an American citizen.
I, m,yself, doubt
that an abortive attempt at expatriation
would, certainly without more, warrant
the denial of a passport to a person who was in fact a citizen.
Representative FORD. And a ljerson who in his application in June of 1963: indicated he wanted to return to the Soviet Union?
Mr. CHAYES. One of the places he wanted to travel to was Russia. I think if
you add those two together, and all you have is his intention to travel to Russia,
and the fact that he made an abortive attempt to expatriate himself in Russia
sometime ,before, I don’t think you have the basis for a finding in terms of the
regulation that persons, activities abroad would “violate the laws of the United
States, be prejudicial
to the orderly conduct of foreign relations or otherwise be
prejudicial
to the interests of the United States.”
I think you have got the basis for a finding that this is noi a very attractive
fellow, but I don’t see how you can bring him within any of those categories on
the basis of the evidence in the file.
Mr. DULLES. Is it not. correct though that when you were trying to get the
visa for Mrs. Oswald, you made a very stron, * case that his continued residence
in the Soviet Union was harmful to the foreign policy of the United States, or
words to that effect?
Mr. &AYES. Well, we were very anxious to get him back and I think that is
right.
In a sense we had him on our hands then. We were in discussion with
him. He was in the Embassy and he was very directly our responsibility,
so
that anything that he did or that went wrong during that period, he was under
our protection and we were necessarily involved.
If he went back as a tourist and got into some trouble of some kind or
another, we would then have the choice I think to get involved, and we might
or might not. The situation it seems to me is different when a fellow is already
in trouble and you have taken steps to put the U.S. Embassy in the picture.
Then you have a special responsibility
if anything goes off the track and you
want to take whatever steps you can to shorten the time in which you are bearing
that special responsibility.
Representative
FORD. I think, hir. Chayes, however, you are saying or you
are inferring that it was a clear-cut decision back when it was determined that
he had not given up his United States citizenship.
Mr. CHAYES. It was in July of 1961, when his passport was renewed.
We
couldn’t have had a passport renewal if there weren’t such a determination,
and in fact there was such a determination.
Representative FORD. There was such a determination?
Mr. CHAYES. Yes, sir.
Representative
FORD. That is correct, but it was not a clear-cut case when
you look at the steps that he, Lee Harvey Oswald, tried to take.
Mr. CHAYES. Well, I don’t knowRepresentative
Form. It was a determination,
but it was not one that was
absolutely all black or white.
Mr. CHAYES. No, but once you make the decision on the basis of whatever is
before you, he is either a citizen or he is not a citizen, and I think he is a citizen,
or was a citizen.
Representative
FORD. But the fact that the matter was administratively
investigated ought to, I would think under your new regulations, when he applies
to go back to the country where he originally sought citizenship, there ought to
be some real investigation, and I am surprised that you say that under those
regulations, under these facts, he probably would still be given a passport.
Mr. CHAYES. I agree with the first part of your statement, that under the new
regulations, as we have developed them in the light of hindsight, there would
be a further investigation.
Representative FORD. But you also saidMr. CHAYES.
And I think there should.
Representative FORD. He would then be given his passport again despite the
new regulation,
Mr. CHAYES.
But if the investigation turned up no more than what was in the
file with respect to his purposes for trarel abroad, if we didn’t have some hard
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factual evidence to support a finding that his travel would fall within one of
these three categories in 51.136, then the passport would be issued. We have to
start from the proposition that the Supreme Court has said that the right to
travel is a part of the liberty protected by the fifth amendment, and that the
Now we have taken the posiSecretary cannot withhold a passport arbitrarily.
tion, I think properly so, that in order to justify withholding
under one of these
three subsections of 51.136, there has to be a real and concrete showing that
the travel either would violate the laws of the Vnited States, be prejudicial
to
the orderly conduct of foreign relations, or otherwise be prejudicial
to the
interests of the United States.
Add to that that you can’t make that finding on the basis of, let’s say, political
activity abroad.
Suppose we could show, for example, that Oswald was going
to the Soviet Union to make a speech before the Supreme Soviet telling how
terrible things were in the United States and how bad the U.S. policies toward
Cuba were, for example.
Representative FORD. Would that preclude him from getting a passport?
Mr.’ CHAYES.
So. We have people abroad who are doing that all the time.
We have got Malcolm X traveling across Africa making one speech after the
other about how terrible our policies on the race question are. And it is perfectly
clear to me on the basis of the cases-although
we might get a little more information in the next couple of weeks, we have a case before the Chief Justice
now-but
it is clear to me on the basis of the cases so far that if what is involved is speech, no matter how hostile it is to our policies or our objectives,
you can’t deny a passport for that.
Representative
FORD.
What about Oswald’s statements to either Mr. Snyder
or Mr. McVickar that he as a former Marine was going to give information
he
had acquired as a former Marine to the Soviet authorities.
Mr. CHAYES.
That is, of course, a more difficult one. Of course we know he
didn’t. have very much information.
Representative FORD. No, but he was a Marine and he had been trained as an
electronics radar specialist.
He said he was going to give this information.
Mr. CHAYES. But the second point is that on the whole these criteria look
to the future.
They look to the purpose of this travel.
Now if he had committed an offense against the espionage laws or whatever it was abroad on his
past performance--Representative FORD. This isn’t a question of freedom of speech.
Mr. CHAYES.
No; I understand.
Representative FORD. This is a question of giving away Government secrets.
Mr. CHAYES.
No, no; I don’t equate the two at all. But that kind of thing
I think would have been the subject of investigation under our new procedures,
and might have turned up something.
I think if you could have found, for
example, that he did in the past give information
of this kind, you might be in
a different position.
Representative FORD. Was any investigation of that aspect made at the time?
Mr. &AYES.
Yes.
Representative
FORD.
When he came back and asked for the renewal of his
passport?
Mr. CHAYES.
No; but what happened was when he returned to the United
States-first
of all the FBI was kept constantly informed, and as you know
kept looking into the Oswald situation periodically from the time he came back.
Mr. COLE&IAN. And those reports were in the passport file.
Mr. CHAYES.
They were in the passport file, and immediately after he came
back, he was interviewed
very fully by the FBI, and I think as I recall the
file-1 haven’t reviewed it recently-I
think he was questioned on this very
point by the FBI, and he said he hadn’t given any and they weren’t very much
interested in it. And the FBI apparently was satisfied with that. They made
no further move against him on that basis.
So that we did have whatever information there was.
As I say, although this regulation looks to the purpose of the forthcoming
travel and not to the past travel, nonetheless I think it is perfectly appropriate
to make inferences on the basis of what he did before. We refused to issui? a
passport to Worthy when he would not give us assurances that he would observe
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the restrictions, because on the basis of his past conduct, we were prepared to
infer that in the absence of such assurances, he might well disobey the restrictions.
Mr. Ehrlich points out to me that on May 16, 1962-this
is one of several
such memorandums-our
security office sent to the FBI with copies to the
other security agencies a memorandum on the subject of American defectors,
and their status in the U.S.S.R., and there is a summary of that which covers
Oswald.
This was just before he came home, I guess.
Mr. COLEMAN. Will you indicate what file that is by the number?
Mr. CHAYES. This is the folder II in the numbering that we gave you, and
it is document No. II-6 (4) , in our number system.
Mr. DULLES. Could you read or indicate what that says about Oswald?
Mr. CNAYES. Oh, yes; it just summarizes his status as of that date and it
says :
“Lee Oswald: It has been determined that Oswald the ex-Marine is still an
American citizen.
Both he and his Soviet wife now have exit permits and
the Department has given approval for their travel with their infant child to
the U.S.A. There is a prohlem with his wife, however, in that SOV in the
Department is trying to get a waiver of 243(g), which requires that Oswald’s
wife pick up her visa for entry into the U.S.A. in Western Europe.
As soon
as this question has been settled, they will be free to travel.”
Mr. DULLES. May I clarify one other point?
Mr. COLEMAN. May I ask him a question about that? In that file Mr. Chayes
isn’t there also another FBI report dated August 30, 1362, which indicates that
Lee Harvey Oswald was reinterviewed
by the Bureau agents on August 16,
1962, with respect to contacts he had made at the Soviet Embassy in Washington?
Mr. CHAYES. I would have to review the file itself, for the specific details
as to dates and so on. I do remember that the FBI in its subsequent inquiries
talked to him about his contacts with the Soviet Embassy. He had some, of
course, in connection with his wife. They asked him whether he had had any
other contacts with the Soviets and so on.
Mr. COLEMAN. Mr. Dulles, you had a question.
Mr. DULLES. This apparently just went to the Bureau, did it not? Did it
go to the other agencies?
Mr. CHAYES. I think the--Mr. DIJLLES. Yes; it went to the CIA. Copy went to the CIA. I would like
to clarify one point. It is not quite clear to me what information about Oswald
was in the passport files as distinct from the Department files. I didn’t realize
that there was much about Oswald in the passport file itself in the absence of,
what do you call it, a checkMr. COLEMAN. A lookout card.
Mr. DULLES. A lookout card.
Mr. CHAYES. No; the passport file, I am holding it up.
Mr. DULLES. It is a big file.
Mr. CHAYES. It is roman numeral X and it contains in our numbering system 36 documents or something like that.
Mr. DULLES. That was in the passport file itself?
Mr. CHAYES. In the passport file itself. A large amount of the security
material is there, and of course the security file would have been pulled too
whenever the passport file was reviewed.
Mr. DULLES. Do you know whether that file was reviewed before the issuance
of the passport in June 1930 or not?
Mr. &AYES. 1963.
Mr. DULLES. I mean 1!%3?
Mr. CHAYES. It was not.
Mr. DULLES. It was not?
Mr. CHAYEB. It was not, because what happened then was that the Telex came
in from New Orleans. The only thing that you do is go to the lookout card file.
There was no lookout card. In the absence of a lookout card, routine approval
goes out and the passport was issued from the New Orleans office. If there
had been a lookout card, then the lookout card would have sent them hack to
the file. There was no lookout card because the file as it then stood didn’t
have anything in it that warranted the denial of a passport, and under our then
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procedures we didn’t have a flag for people of this kind to stimulate a further
inquiry or investigation.
Mr. DULLES. Isn’t it usual in issuing a passport though to look, in addition to
the lookout card, to look at the file you have on the individual?
Mr. CHAYES. No, sir; unless there is a lookout card. the passport is issued
automatically
on the basis of the local agency’s determination
of citizenship.
There has to be evidence of citizenship.
Now let me say there are different ways in which this can come up, because
for example a man may apply for a passport before a clerk of the court and
that application
would be forwarded
to the Department.
But even then the
Department adjudicator
would first look at the lookout file. If there is no card
in the lookout file, all he would do is determine whether the application
was
complete, and whether satisfactory evidence of citizenship was presented, and
whether on the face of it, you know, the oath was properly taken or any supplementary questionnaire
resolved doubts.
If there were a supplemental
questionAnd then would issue the passport.
naire or something like that, then he would probably go to the file.
In our agency there are special passport issuing offices, New Orleans is one
of the big ones, we have one in New York, we have some others, there the system
is very routinized.
Daily, and sometimes more than once daily, the agency will telegraph by Telex
the name, date, and place of birth of its applicants, the people who have come
in that day to make an application.
Mr. COI,EMAN. Could we mark as Exhibit No. 952 the teletype that came in on
Oswald.
I think that would help the Commission to indicate how it comes in.
(Commission Exhibit No. 952 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence.)
Mr.

CHAYES.

Yes.

Mr. COLEMAN.
You had better explain the “NO” which is beside Oswald’s name.
name.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; well here you see the Telex coming in from New Orleans,
and there are 25 names on it with date of birth beside earh name, and it is interesting that opposite Lee Harvey Oswald is capital letters “SO” which might be
rather interesting except that it stands for New Orleans, and every Telex that
comes from New Orleans has that mark on it. It is covered by our abbreviations
manual, and one of your investigators
made, of course with our knowledge in
our office, but not in the Passport Office, a surprise visit to the Passport Office
to make sure that they were, in fact, putting NO on these things, and they are.
That is the designation of the office.
What happens is when these 25 names come in, the lookout file is searched for
those names, and if there is no lookout card, then a responding Telex is sent
back. It says here 561, OW561. That is this one, “All okay.” OW is office to
Washington.
WO is Washington to office. So the control number of the outgoing from Washington is WO38, and it says that on your OW,561, all the names
were okay.
Now it is interesting, the Telex came in and it is stamped Jml’e 24, 4:19 p.m.June 24, 1963. It went out June 25, lo:57 a.m. and these 25 people all got the
passports.
Now it is only on the basis of that kind of a system that you can get out a
million passports in a way that really provides first class service to the American
people. Miss Knight in her administration
of the office, which extends back into
the previous administration,
has cut down the time from something like 2 weeks
to 24 hours in most of the cases.
Mr. DULLES. Could the.Passport Office itself prepare a lookout card on its own
initiative on the basis let’s say of a file like the Oswald file?
Mr. CHAYES. It would have prepared a lookout card on any person as to whom
the file suggested that there were grounds for withdrawal,
or denial of the
passport.
Mr. COLEMAN.
Mr. Chayes, at this point could we mark as Commission Exhibit
NO. 951 the existing standard operating notice which was in effect on February 28,
1962, of the Department with respect to the lookout card system?
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(Commission Exhibit NO. 951 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence. )
Mr. CHAYEB. Yes.
Mr. COLEMAN. Would you describe Commission Exhibit No. 95I?
Mr. CHAYES. This is the standard operating notice which covers the categories,
and if you look at them they relate each category to a ground of potential
disqualification.
Mr. DULLES. As of what date does this read?
Mr. COLEMAN. February 1!362L
Mr. CHAYES. Now we have added by the Schwartz to Knight memorandum of
recent date a defector category which differs slightly from the others in that in
all of the other categories something in the file already suggests that tbe person
may be ineligible for a passport.
The defector category would simply stimulate
further investigation
in the case of application
by such a person, and would
automatically
trigger notification of the other security agencies.
Mr. DULL.ES. How do you define the defector category, do you know?
Mr. CHAYES. I think we have the-Mr. DULLEB. Would that have covered Oswald? That is what I am interested in.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; well, it was in fact designed to cover Oswald, so thatMr. DULLES. It probably would have.
Mr. CHAYES. It would, but defector is not a statutory term or one that has
real technical significance.
I have said in my own discussions with people who
have asked for guidance in administering
this memorandum
and others that
it is not necessarily related to an attempted renunciation of citizenship or anything
else. It involves the kind of thing that if there were a war on would be treason.
In other words, it involves something like aid and comfort to the enemy or
attempted aid and comfort to the enemy. The only thing is the enemy isn’t
technically an enemy because we are not at war. But that requires some judgment to decide which ones you put in and which ones you wouldn’t.
Mr. DULLES. There is a definition we could get though and put it in the record.
Mr. &AYES. No, no.
Mr. DULLES. There is no definition?
Mr. CHAYES. If you look at the Schwartz memorandum,
it says that the
Oswald case highlights the necessity of maintaining
up-to-date lookout cards in
the files of the Passport Office, “for persons who may have defected to ComSubsequent to the Oswald incident, I
munist countries or areas or redefected.
requested the Department of Defense to furnish this office with identifying information on military personnel in this category.
Information
with respect to
these military personnel has now been received from all three services and copies
are attached.
“On the basis of the attached information, please bring up to date the lookout
cards of the Passport Office.”
And then it simply lists the names of the people that came over from the
military.
Mr. COLEMAN. Mr. Chayes, is the document we have marked Exhibit No. 951,
the standard operating notice as of February 28, lQ62?
‘Mr. CHAYES. Yes.
Mr. COLEMAN. In the attachment in category K you have “Known or suspected
Communists or subversives” as a category on which there should be a lookout
card.
Mr. CHAYEa Yes.
Mr. COLEMAN. Wouldn’t Mr. Oswald have fallen in that category, based upon
the passport file?
Mr. CHAYES.
I don’t think so. There is nothing to indicate that he had ever
been a member of the Communist Party. Maybe you would have regarded his
Fair Play for Cuba activities as falling within the notion subversive. I have
to say that I think K dates from an earlier period before the Kent Case, in
which we were denying passports very broadly to a category of people who
might be called subversive.
Rockwell Kent himself, Brehl, the other defendant,
people as to whom there was no real membership information,
but who had
generally, what had been thought of as having subversive views or Connections.
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With the Kent and Brehl cases, it may well have been that that category fell
into some desuetude. I think it is worth inquiring of Miss Knight whether that
category was maintained
after the Kent case, or whether we simply took those
out.
Mr. COLEMAN.
In the Commission Exhibit So. 951 you also have another category, category R, which reads : “Individual’s
actions do not reflect to credit of U.S.
abroad.”
Would you say that based upon the Oswald file as it existed in the
Passport Office as of June 1963, that he would not fall in that category?
Mr. CHAYES.
I don’t think so when you are thinking about what this means.
I don’t think one person in a billion abroad knew Oswald or had any such
experience with him or anything else. This isn’t really a reflection on the
United States, I suppose if you construed it that way, if somebody got drunk
on the Champs Elysees he ought to be in that category. I don’t think you can
really construe it that broadly.
It has to mean I am sure someone who has a
really notorious course of conduct like the kind of thing that I summarized
for you on the three people in the so-called other category when we were talking
to earlier-my
letter of June 6.
Representative
FORD. If you really are equating someone who is intoxicated
in Paris with OswaldMr. CHAYES.
No; I am not equating them in the quality of their conduct, but
for the purposes of this category “Do not reflect credit on the United States
abroad” I think what that must involve is some very notorious course of conduct
which a lot of people have had a chance to see, which has somewhat serious
consequences of the kind that I summarized here “convicted for attempting to
acquire knowledge of state secrets in Germany, fraudulent
schemes, convicted
for fraud,” that kind of thing.
Here is a fellow who left a trail of bad checks, using his passport as identification and claiming to he a U.S. employee. All I am saying is that category R,
although it is a catchall category, I would conceive is construed or should be
construed narrowly.
Let me say further, I probably should not be testifying to this so much anyway
because these categories are guidelines, are operational guidelines.
They don’t
have legal consequences. And I think you ought to ask Miss Knight, who has
the operational responsibility, whether the way I conceive this is correct. I may
misconceive it, but I think in essence these categories are related to grounds of
disqualification,
and unless the conduct specified comes within the range of
being a ground, a basis for disqualification,
I don’t think the lookout card would
be made up.
Mr. COLEMAN. Don’t you have a category X, which is called “catch card,”
denotes limited lookout validity, not necessarily refusal situation?
Mr. CHAYEE. Yes.
Mr. COLEMAN. So perhaps Oswald could have been put in there, couldn’t he, in
that category, based upon the file?
Mr. OHAYES. It is possible, and I suppose that is exactly what we are now
doing with defectors.
Mr. COLEMAN. Do you know what categoryMr. CHAYEB. I think you ought to inquire from Miss Knight about that.
Mr. COLEMAN. I also take it you wouldn’t know what goes in categories 0 and
P, 0 being “orange card, includes recent master list” and P being “project Carry.”
Mr. CHAYES.
I don’t personally know at all.
(Discussion off the record.)
Representative FORD. Let me ask you this, Mr. Chayes. Were Oswald’s various
applications and various approvals ever handled as a special case as far as you
know?
Mr. CHAYES. The only applications
that were handled as a special case were
the ones made in Russia for the return of his passport in the first instance, and
then the renewal of his passport. Those were handled as a special case, both in
the Embassy and in the Department.
Although I don’t think very high ranking officers passed on them in the sense
of Assistant Secretaries or something like that, nonetheless they where handled
at very responsible levels in the Department.
The political desk was consulted
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as well as the Bureau of Security and Consular Affairs, and a very deliberate
and special decision was made.
The subsequent application,
the *June 1963 application,
was handled as a
matter of routine.
Representative
FORD. The application
in the Embassy for renewal or reissuance, was that handled more expeditiously
or less expeditiously
than other
defector or attempted defector cases?
Mr. CHAYES. I couldn’t say. I couldn’t say because I don’t have any experience
in it against which to measure it. As I reviewed the file it seemed to me to be a
fairly normal kind of a file for a matter of this kind. When I say “this kind”
I don’t mean other defectors because I have never seen any of that.
But the reporting seemed full enough, and the response came back in time.
But they didn’t seem to be accelerated.
There were always adequate supporting
memorandums indicating consultation
within the Department on broad enough
basis.
Representative FORD. How long did it take from the actual time that he made
the application in Moscow until it was finally approved?
Mr. CHAYES. He made the application onMr. COLEMAN. This is the passport?
Representative
FORD. Yes; in Moscow.
Mr. COLEMAN. He made it July 11, 1961. At that time Mr. Snyder returned
The new passport, namely the one he got to
to him his existing passport.
travel back to the United States, was not is&red until May 1962.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes.
Mr. COLEMAN. Though the instruction that it could be issued was submitted,
sent forward to the Embassy, certainly by the end of 1961.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; they were submitted subject to the Embassy being satisfied on certain points.
It ought to be stated also that, according to the record at least, the passport
was returned to him, in July, July 11. It was marked at that time “good for
travel only for direct return to the United States.” But the purpose of returning
it to him was so that he could apply to the Soviet authorities
for an exit document, because he believed and our people in Moscow conc’arred, that he couldn’t
get an exit document unless he had a U.S. passport.
Representative FORD. An exit document for himself?
Mr. CHAYES., For himself.
Mr. DULLES. I note in this file, looking at your passport file which is very
complete, that in his passport application of June 1963 he gives as his approximate date of departure, I assume departure from the United States, as OctoberDecember 1963. Is it the practice of the Department to issue passports for
persons who are not leaving for 3 or 4 months?
Mr. CHAYES. Oh, yes.
Mr. DULLES. Anytime?
Mr. CHAYES. Anytime you want a passport, if you are entitled to one, you
get it. And you keep it even after you return.
I mean if he had used it, gone
out of the country and returned, if it is still within what is it, the 3-year period
now, the passport is a valid passport and he can depart again in the absence
of some action taken looking towards withdrawal.
So that these are ambulatory
documents, and there are many people who just automatically-I
don’t say
Oswald did this, obviously he didn’t, but there are many people who automatically renew their passport when it runs out so that they always have travel
documentatibn.
Representative
FORD. Are there any other defector or attempted defector
cases where the person came back and tried to get his passport? How long did
it take in those cases to go through this process?
Mr. CHAYES. You mean comparable to the June application?
Representative FORD. No ; I am talking of the Moscow application.
Mr. CHAYES. I think we did submit a report on that. Well, I am sorry,
we didn’t.
We did inquire whether there were any defectors who were in
the situation of the June application.
We found that there was one, and he
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was also issued a passport routinely.
But I can supply for the record the information as to the others.
Representative FORD. I think it would be helpful.
Mr. CHAYEG. You would like to know the time from application
to grant
of passport in the Soviet Union for defectors or attempted defectors who were
trying to get back then to the United States?
Representative
FORD. Yes; if we could have that for the record.
Mr. CHAYES. We will be very glad to submit it.
Mr. COLEMAN. Mr. Chayes, turning your attention to the question of the
admission of ?\larina Oswald to the United States as a nonquota immigrant,
I
take it that since she was the wife of an American citizen, she would be
entitled to nonquota immigrant
status unless she was disqualified because she
was a member of a Communist organization, is that correct?
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; unless she was subject to one of those disqualifications
in
212(a) (28).
Mr. COLE~~AN. Now the first decision that was made by the Embassy was
that her membership in the particular
trade union was involuntary,
and there
fore she was not disqualified?
Mr. CHAYES. That is correct.
Mr. COLEMAN. I take it you reviewed the record and you concur in that
judgment?
Mr. CHAYNES. That is correct, It would also be made, and be made automatically in the case of persons belonging to trade unions not in leadership positions
in the trade union, and where there is no external evidence of active participation, because membership in the union is a condition of employment in those
places in the Soviet Union, and our regulations cover the point precisely.
Mr. COLEMAN. Now the other decision that was made was that the Department and the Immigration
and Naturalization
Service would waive the provisions of section 247(g) of the Immigration
and Nationality
Act which provision
says that a visa could not be issued from Moscow because the Attorney General
in 1953 had placed Russia among those countries that refused to accept Russian
citizens that we wanted to send back to Russia.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes ; 243 (g) is a sanction which the act provides against countries, not against people. It is not a disqualification
for a person. If 243(g)
had not been waived, Mrs. Oswald would simply have gone to Rotterdam and
gotten the same visa from our consulate in Rotterdam.
It is a sanction against
the country which is levied when, as you say, the Attorney General determines
that the country refuses to accept people whom we deport who are their
nationals.
It gets back a little to the point you were making yesterday about
what obligation one has to accept his own nationals back from another country.
Mr. DULLES. That is a general rule of international
law, isn’t it, you are
supposed to do it.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; as a general rule of international
law I suppose one should
accept his own nationals, but people who have expatriated themselves wouldn’t
be nationals and therefore we wouldn’t have to take them back.
In any event-that
is a little digression-but
this sanction is a sanction
designed to penalize a country which has refused to receive back its own
nationals when they are deported from the United States. That sanction was
brought into play by the determination
of the Attorney General made on
May 26,1953.
Mr. DULLES. I wonder whether in addition to the information
that Mr. Ford
has requested, you could give us information,
oh, say covering the last 5 or
10 yearsMr. CHAYES. I think we have already.
Mr. DULLES. I haven’t said what I want it on. With regard to the time that
has elapsed between the application of a Soviet woman married to an American
citizen, the time that is taken from her application to the time that that application has been favorably acted upon by the Soviet Union. In this case as far
as I understand it, the Soviet Union gave permission for Mrs. Oswald to come
either in December 1961 or January 1962, and that because of this particular
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sanction you have just been discussing, it wasn’t really cleared up until May.
And therefore that the delay was in part a delay due to American regulations
rather than to Soviet regulations.
Mr. CHAYES. Well, her processing in the Soviet Union from the time she first
started to try to get backMr. DULLEB. That is it.
Mr. CHAYES. Until she got an exit visa was about 6 months. It was just
under 6 months.
Mr. DULLEI. Yes.
Mr. CHAYES. We have answered in our answers to yourMr. COLEMAN.
It is a Commission Exhibit No. 960 which was just marked,
where Mr. Chayes, under date of May 26, 1964, answered various questions
which were asked, to determine whether there was anything unusual in the way
that Marina and the Oswald applications
were handled by the Soviet Union
and we will make that part of the record.
(Commission Exhibit No. 960 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence.)
Mr. DULLES. Does that cover this particular point?
Mr. COLEMAN.
It covers the point not for 10 years but for 3 or 4 years.
Mr. CHAYES. If I can read into the record this answer, it saysMr. DULLEB. Which answer is that?
Mr. CHAYEB. Question 3, attachment A.
The relevant part is “In the immediate post-war period there were about 15
marriages in which the wife had been waiting for many years for a Soviet
exit permit.
After the death of Stalin the Soviet Government showed a disposition to settle these cases. In the summer of 1953 permission was given for
all of this group of Soviet citizen wives to accompany their American citizen
husbands to the United States. Since this group was given permission to leave
the Soviet Union, there have been from time to time marriages in the Soviet
Union of American citizens and Soviet citizens.
“With one exception it is our understanding
that all of the Soviet citizens
involved have been given permission to immigrate to the United States after
waiting periods which were in some cases from 3 to 6 months and in others
much longer.”
So that I think what Mr. Snyder said yesterday was that 6 months was par
for the course. It wasn’t an unusual delay, and it was fairly low as those things
went, but not som’etbing that would give you any surprise.
There were a number of other Smonth ones and there were some less.
Mr. DULLES. For our records I wonder if it would be possible to be a little
more specific, I mean to furnish us information
that would be a little more
specific on this point, because it is very hard for us to tell of the numbers how
many had less than 6 months and how many had more than 6 months.
That is the point that has been raised often you know in the press, and the
charge has been made that this is very suspicious, that this was done so soon.
I think our records ought to show a good deal of specification what that record
is. I mean this is very helpful in a general way but it is not very specific.
Mr. CHAYES. We can do that. The further answer farther down on the next
page, page 2, says for example that “In a most recent case of this type a Soviet
woman married an American citizen in December of 1963 and received an exit
visa about 2 months later.”
Mr. DULLES. That is very helpful.
Mr. CHAYES. But we will get a detailed account for the Commission.
Mr. COLEMAN.
Mr. Chayes, as I understand
it, section 243 (g) itself says
nothing about the power of the State Department or Immigration
and Naturahzation Service to waive’its provisions.
Mr. CHAYES. The State Department doesn’t waive the provisions.
I should
start by saying that 243(g) is a section administered by the Justice Department
and the Attorney General has primary responsibility
for interpretation
and administration.
The Attorney General has from the beginning interpreted 243(g)
as involving waiver power.
I had never had occasion to examine the question
at all until this matter came up, and I have made only a cursory examination,
but I think the judgment is sound that there is waiver power under 243(g).
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Mr. DULLES.
May I just ask one question
there.
Our file that I have before
me, and your very helpful
paperMr. COLEMAN.
Commission
Document
No. 2.
Mr. DULLER
Commission
Document
No. 2 doesn’t
indicate
really
the basis on
which
the Texas
authorities
were holding
up the visa.
Does that appear
anywhere
in the record?
Mr. CHAYES.
I don’t
know.
It may appear
in our attachment
B answers.
In essence it was that they thought
this fellow
had behaved
pretty
badly
and
he wasn’t
entitled
to any special consideration.
Mr. COLEMAN.
That is why at this time I would
like to read into the record
It says :
part of the regulation
under which they will waive.
“If substantial
adverse
security
information
related
to the petitioner
is developed,
the visa petition
shall be processed
on its merits
and certified
to the
regional
commissioner
for determination
whether
the sanction
should be waived.
“The
assistant
commissioner
shall endorse
the petition
to show whether
the
waiver
is granted
or denied and forward
it and notify
the appropriate
5eld o5ce
of the action
taken.”
In other
words,
that since some derogatory
information
was in the 5le, and
since Oswald
was the petitioner,
the initial
decision
made by the 5eld officer
of the Immigration
Service
was that the waiver
should
not be granted.
Mr. CHAYES.
That is correct.
Mr. DULLES.
I assume
that that was motivated
probably
in one of the letters
from
the Texas
immigration
office to the Department
of Justice
or the Immigration
Service
here.
Mr.
COLEMAN.
Yes:
well
what
happened,
the record
was referred
to the
immigration
field officer
in Texas,
and the record
was the history
of the fact
that Oswald
had defected
or attempted
to defect,
and the statements
he had
made.
So they, therefore,
made the determination
on the field level that they
would
not waive
the sanction.
Mr. CHAYES.
That is right.
The sanction
was waived
only after urging
from
the Department.
Mr.
DULLES.
Yes, that
appears
in this
Commission
Exhibit,
this document
that I have referred
to.
But we do not have in our 5les the letter
of the Texas
immigration
authorities
first refusing
as far as I know.
Mr. COLEMAN.
We will have that.
That testimony
will be put in through
Miss
James and Miss Waterman.
Mr.
DULLES.
They
have
that.
All right,
if they
supply
that,
that
will
be
adequate.
Mr. COLEMAN.
So I take it that,
in your
judgment
after
reviewing
the file,
you think
that the waiver
should have been granted?
Mr. CHAYNES.
Well, I think
there that it was not an improper
exercise
of discretion.
That
is correct.
Mr. COLEMAN.
Just one other question.
Is there any policy in the Department
to delay the acceptance
of attempted
renunciation
of citizenship?
Mr. CHAYEB.
Well,
delay,
I don’t know
that there is a stated
policy
that you
put the person
off.
The general
policy
of the Department
is first I think
to
discourage
renunciations,
to make
it clear
that
the person
has a right
to
renounce,
but nonetheless
to discourage
them.
Secondly,
the policy
is that
the consular
officer
should
assure
himself
that
the person
seeking
to renounce
his citizenship
is acting
soberly,
rationally,
and
And for that
with full awareness
of the meaning
and consequences
of his act.
purpose
the consular
officer
can use any means
within
his judgment.
He can
talk to the person.
He could invoke
a cooling-off
period
or ask a person to sleep
on it or something
of that kind.
It seems to me how the policy
is implemented
is something
for the particular
case.
If somebody
came up in England
and had
just married
an earl or something
like that and said “I want to be an English
citizen
now”
and was in full possession
of her faculties
apparently
there
probably wouldn’t
be much worry
about it, although
even then the consul
would
go
through
a routine
of trying
to assure
that the person
knew
and understood
fully what she was doing.
Mr. DULLES.
Is that routine
prescribed,
should
it be prescribed
do you think
now in the light of hindsight
in this situation?
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Mr. CHAYES. No; I think in each case it will depend so much on the situation
with the particular
person. If a person comes in and he is very agitated or
something of that kind, it might dictate a totally different approach than a different kind of thing.
Mr. DULLES. Wouldn’t it be useful though to give-1 don’t want to suggest
what the Secretary of State should do in this, but in the light of this experience, would there not be some benefit possibly in giving peopiein the Aeld the
result of the experience gained in this particular case?
Mr. CHAYES.
Well, the general approach, and other matters related to it,
are touched on in orientation
courses for consular officers and so on. I think
as I look on Consul Snyder’s actions, that he behaved very much like a responsible Foreign Service officer.
That happened long before I was in the Department,
so I can say that
But it seemed to me that he did just what he
without any involvement.
should have done, despite the unfortunate
aftermath.
And it shows to me, at
least, that the training and orientation
that these people are getting is right, is
serviceable, and they are able to handle these situations as they come in.
Mr. DULLES. I realize that you ought not to prescribe hard and fast rules,
that there is a broad range of discretion that should be exercised here. But I
just raise the question as to whether a good deal of experience hasn’t been gained
in this case in that very field.
Mr. CHAYES.
Well, it may very well be that more attention to that particular
aspect should be given in the orientation
courses and so on. Those things
tend to reflect what is hot at the moment you know, and if you haven’t had
trouble with something for a pretty long time, it tends maybe not to get
mentioned.
Representative
Foss. If Oswald had persisted that day, October 31, in de
mandlng the form that is a prerequisite
under your definition for renunciation,
would Snyder have been required to give it to him and permit him to sign it?
Mr. CHAYES. I think if it had been in ,ordlnary office hours when the consulate was open for business, and if Snyder was satisfied that he was competent,
that Oswald was competent, he would have to give him the form, yes, sir.
Representative
FOBD. Does Snyder have the authority to make a determination of competency?
Mr. CHAYES. PJo; he doesn’t have the authority
to make a determination
of
competence, and I suppose it is possible at some point to get the issue tried in
court. But I think a consular officer would probably be acting within his
discretion if he saw sombody who was drunk or raving or something and just
said, “Well, I am not going to give you this until I am sure that your action is
your act.” After all, when the consul accepts the oath, he is certifying that it
is the act of the person in a meaningful sense, and so if he thought that the
person was incompetent, I think he would have discretion not to give the oath.
But I put that far aside because in the particular case here, Mr. Snyder made it
perfectly clear that he had no reason to doubt that Oswald was fully competent.
And so if Oswald had been there at a time when ‘the office was open, or had
returned at a time when the office was open, and had persisted in his demand,
I think Snyder would have been under an obligation to give him the form.
Representative
Form. The only technical reason or basis upon which Snyder
could have denied Oswald the right that day was the fact that it was on a
Saturday, a non-worklng-hour
period of the Embassy.
Mr. CHASES. Yes; I think he had every right to try to dissuade him, or persuade him not to act or persuade him to think it over and come back the next
day. But if after all of that Oswald still had said “But I want to do it now”
and if the office was open for business, then I think he would have had to do it.
Mr. DULLES. I think it might be useful if it has not been done to introduce
at this point as an exhibit the form of oath of renunciation.
Here is the formalixed oath and I think it would be well to have this in our records unless
it is already in our records.
Representative FOBD. I agree.
Mr. COLEMAN. No; it isn’t. Could we say it will be marked as Commission
Exhibit No. 955 and place this sticker on that page, photostat it and then just
send it back?
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(Commission Exhibit No. 955 was marked for identidcation
and received in
evidence.)
Representative FORD. When Oswald came back on November 3, I believe, which
was a regular working dayMr. COLEMAN. Mr. Commissioner, he did not come back on November 3. He
merely wrote a letter.
Mr. CHAYES. Wrote a letter. He never came back.
Representative
FORD. Are all of the employees, Mr. Snyder, Mr. McVickar,
and the others who had any firsthand contact with the Oswald case in this
area, were they State Department employees?
Mr. CHAYES. Yes, sir; these two men who were the only ones who did see
him directly, I think the secretary, their secretary also saw him, but had nothing
These two men were Foreign Servto do with him except as a receptionist.
ice officers and are now Foreign Service officers.
Representative FORD. In t.he strictest term.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes, sir; members of the Foreign Service, appointed by the
President with the advice and consent of the Senate.
Representative
FORD. Could you tell us in a bit more detail the process that
you; followed or the procedure that you carried out when you Erst got into the
Oswald case.
You mentioned yesterday you got a call or you were directed by I believe
the Secretary of State or by somebody in higher authority to take certain steps.
Will you tell us who called you, what you did in the first 3 or 4 days?
Mr. CHAYES. It was the evening of the day, perhaps about 5 o’clock on the
day of the assassination.
It may have been somewhat earlier, because I think
I remember I went home for an hour and then came back to carry out this
assignment.
Mr. Ball, once it became known that Oswald had some history as
a defectorMr. DULLES. Ball is the Under Secretary of State.
Mr. CHAYES. He was then the Acting Secretary because the Secretary of State
as you recall was on a plane over the Pacific. So he was the Acting Secretary.
But even if he had been the Under Secretary he is my client.
Representative FOOD. He still had some authority.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes ; he directed me to gather together the files in the Department
on Oswald, and to prepare a report to be available for him the first thing in the
morning covering as best we could within that time span the contacts that
Oswald had with the Department.
We got the passport file. We got the security office file. We got the special
consular services Ele which covered Mrs. Oswald’s visa and the repatriation
loan. I think those three Eles were the ones that we had. It may have been
there was a smaller fourth Ele, but I think those three were the ones.
Representative FORD. What would that smaller fourth Ele be?
Mr. CHAYES. I can’t remember. It was duplicates if it was anything.
Oh, that
is right, we had a visa Ele and an SCS Ele so those were the four. The SCS
Ele, that is Special Consular Services in the office, in the Bureau of Security
and Consular Affairs.
Representative
FORD. You got this order on or about 5 o’clock the 22d of
November?
Mr. CEAYES. The 22d ; yes, sir.
Representative
FOBD. And you issued orders to have these Eles brought in,
or did you go and get them yourself?
Mr. CHAYES. No.
Representative FORD. Or what happened?
Mr. CHAYES. I issued orders to have them brought in. I called-1
am trying
to think how we got them. [Turning
to Mr. Ehrlich.]
Did you go down and
get them? Mr. Ehrlich and Mr. Lowenfeld, another of my people, we worked
through the night on this, the three of us all together and it may be that the
two of them went down to get them. I don’t think we just called over the telephone and asked them to be brought up.
(Discussion off the record.)
Mr. CHAYES. It is my recollection that one of these two gentlemen, either
Mr. EIhrlich or Mr. Lowenfeld acting for me, went down to pick up the file.
731-2210-64-vol.
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Mr. Ehrlich thinks he recalls that one of the files was already being examined
by the Secret Service or the FBI, the passport file. My own recollection, which
I am sure of, is that later on in the evening, about 8 o’clock or 9 o’clock, we
established contact with the FBI and they came over and read the files in our
office at the same time we were reading them. Now actually there was nothing
in any of the files that wasn’t duplicated in the others in essence. I mean mu&
of our files consisted of FBI or CIA reports.
Much of their files consisted of these letters and documents that you have seen
that we had come into possession of when Oswald attempted to renounce.
We worked, as I say, through the night. One thing that we did other than go
through the files was to go down to the lookout card file to see whether there
was a lookout card for Oswald. We got Mr. Johnson, who is the General Counsel
of the Passport Office, to open up the lookout card file which is a large room
that has a combination
lock on the door, and is also plugged into a general
alarm system, got into the room and examined the lookout card file and found
that there was no card for Oswald.
This was the first experience I had ever had with the lookout card file, and
I said all the things that you have said here, why wasn’t there a card. But
we were very careful in doing that to record, Mr. Lowenfeld, Mr. Ehrlich and
I and Mr. Johnson and Mr. Schwartz all went in and we all mutually recorded
what steps we took. I think there are notes of that, if anybody is interested
in them, but I don’t think there is any need to see them.
Nothing of significance happened. We did findMr. Dunnus. May I ask is the passport office under you as Assistant Secretary
and Legal Adviser?
Mr. CHAYES. No, sir ; the passport office is under Mr. Schwartz.
Mr. DULLES. Under Mr. Schwartz?
Mr. CHAYES. It is Bureau of Security and Consular Affairs.
Mr. DULLES. And he is directly under the Secretary of State.
Mr. CHAYEB. Yes; he is Assistant Secretary.
His chain of command goes
through the Deputy Under Secretary for Administration,
but he like I has the
rank of Assistant Secretary and he operates a bureau just as I do. The Legal
Adviser’s office is a separate bureau.
We did prepare a 19 or 12page document by dawn the next day which in fact
is the bads of this report, the Commission Document No. 2.
Mr. COLEMAN. We will give that Commission Exhibit No. 959, your first report.
Mr. CHAYEB. The one we did overnight?
Mr. COLEMAN. No; the one that you sent us. It is Commission Exhibit No.
950. It has been given a number.
Mr. DULLES. I wonder if the witness would identify this and verify the circumstances under which it was prepared?
Mr. &AYES. This report, Commission Exhibit No. 959, is not the one that we
prepared overnight.
This is the report we prepared for the Department of Justice before the Commission was appointed when the Department of Justice itself
was looking into the matter.
What I say is that Commission Exhibit No. 959 is essentially an expansion
and elaboration of the document that we prepared that night.
Representative Form. There have been fears expressed by some that somehow
we don’t have before the Commission all of the documents that are in the hands
of the Department of State or any other agency pertaining to Oswald. Pou can
only testify as to the Department of State. Do you testify that we have been
given everything that was at any time in the files of Lee Harvey Oswald?
Mr. CHAYES. To my knowledge that is the case. However, let me say again
what I said at the beginning of the testimony.
We have constantly and persistently gone around to all the places iu the Department, and that has been
done under my supervision, and we have made very aggressive efforts to assure
that every office or subdivision of the Department that might have documents
pertaining
to Oswald should give them to the Commission, through me to the
Commission.
I think there was one stage where perhaps that wasn’t understood, but we got
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that corrected.
Then later on, as I say, there was the Moscow Embassy just
They said “We think you have got duplisent us a whole load of documents.
cates of all of these so we didn’t send them in earlier” and it turned out that
some of them we didn’t have duplicates of. I now think-as
I say, it is very
hard to prove a negative, but we have made all the efforts that I think are humanly possible to get these documents out of the files, and I think you have
them all, with the exception of some documents originating
in other agencies
where by arrangement with the staff they are getting those documents from the
originating
agency.
Mr. COLEMAN. Mr. Chayes, at this point could we mark as Commission Exhibit l\‘o. 956, a letter from you to Mr. Rankin under date of May 28, 1964, in
which you sent us a complete copy of the files, and in which you numbered each
one of the files from file I through XII, and then within each file, each document
was numbered and there was also indicated the number of pages which would
be in each particular document?
Will you identify that?
(Commission Exhibit No. 956 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence.)
Mr. CHAYEB. Yes; we sent that letter, a copy of which is Commission Exhibit
No. 956, in response to the request of the staff in order that we would be able
exactly to answer this kind of question.
I shonld add that I think we sent some additional documents since then, those
that came back from Moscow in response to our last request..
Mr. COLEMAN. I would next like to mark as Commission Exhibit No. 954, a
letter from Mr. Chayes to Mr. Rankin under date of June 4, 1964, in which you
sent us the file which you recently received from the Moscow Embassy and
indicated that that file would be marked file XIII.
(Commission Exhibit No. 954 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence.)
Mr. CHAYES. Yes : that is the letter and it contains also the text of the Moscow
telegram explaining
that they thought all the documents they were pouching
were duplicates.
Mr. COLEMAN. With the files you gave us or sent us along with Commission
Exhibits Nos. 956 and 954, as far as you know you have sent the Commission
every flle which the State Department has, referring to Oswald?
Mr. CHAYES. That is correct.
Mr. DULLES. Were you in general charge, under the Secretary, of the correspondence which has been carried on with the Soviet Union inquiring
as to
Oswald and to obtain such information
as we ?ould from the Soviet, Union with
respect to the Oswald case?
Mr. CHAYES. Well, I talked with the Secretary about the Commission’s interest in making au approach to the Soviet Union, and then he made the decision
that the Department was willing to proceed with that approach.
I participated
in the drafting of the documents, and I participated
in the transmissions to the
Commission.
But the approach was made by the Secretary himself, and I did
not observe the approach.
Mr. DULLES. Was that made orally as well as in writing or should we ask
that of the Secretary of State?
Mr. OHAYEE. You can ask it of the Secretary and I think you would get a
fuller answer from him, but he did make an oral presentation at the time that
he handed the note, and the Chief Justice’s letter, to the Russian Ambassador.
Mr. DULLES. In view of your knowledge of this situation, do you think that
we have got all we can get from the Soviet Union or is there any other way in
which we could get anything additional?
Mr. CHAYES. Well, I think probably, the best respondent to that question
would also be the Secretary.
I think it probably has to be recognized that the
decision to give what documents were given was a carefully considered decision,
probably made at very high levels within the Soviet Government, and not done
lightly
or without an examination
of alternatives,
and therefore, it seems to
me unlikely that one would be able to change any such decision.
But again I say I am really not the best man to ask that.
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Mr. COLEMAN.
Mr. Chayes, just two other documents I would like you to
identify for the record. One is your letter of May 81964, which has been marked
Commission Exhibit No. 948, which answers certain questions directed to you
by Mr. Rankin, and it is the document that you referred to several times in
your testimony.
Mr. &AYES. Yes: this is my letter, Commission Exhibit No. 948. It contains
the answers to the questions which were in attachment B to Mr. Rankin’s letter,
and concern essentially matters within the United States and within the State
Department here.
Mr. COLEMAN. Your answers to attachment
A were in Commission Exhibit No. 960. We have already identified that in the record.
Mr. CHAYES. Yes; that is correct. There was a delay between the two letters
because attachment A involved questions about activities in Russia, and some
questions about the Soviet Union, and although we prepared the answers in the
first instance in the United States in the Department, we wanted to send the
replies to the Soviet Union for review by our Embassy there. And that accounted for the time discrepancy in the answer to the two attachments.
Mr. COLEMAN. Then in the attachment A we also asked you a question in
reference to a memorandum from Mr. McVickar and you under date of April
24, 1964, sent us Mr. McVickar’s memorandum which has been marked as Commission Exhibit No. 958. But I would like to mark as Commission Exhibit No.
953 your covering letter.
(Commission Exhibit No. 953 was marked for identification
and received in
evidence.)
Mr. &AYES. Yes ; this is my letter. It is dated April 24,1964, and it is marked
Commission Exhibit No. 953, and it clears up a factual question that was left at
large in Mr. McVickar’s memorandum.
Mr. COLEMAN. Mr. Chairman, at this time I would like to offer for admission
into evidence Commission Exhibits Nos. 948, 950, and 949. I would also like
to note that the attachment to Commission Exhibit No. 952 was marked as
Commission Exhibit No. 958 and has already been admitted into evidence.
Mr. DULLER. They shall be admitted.
(Commission Exhibits Nos. 948, 950, and 949 were marked for identification
and received in evidence.)
Mr. DULLES. May I ask this question?
Have all of these been previously
identified in the testimony.
Mr. COLEMAN. Yes, sir; they have been identified and marked.
(Discussion off the record.)
Mr. COLEMAN. Back on the record. That is all the examination
I have of
Mr. Chayes. I do want to express my appreciation
and thanks for the detail
in which he gave us information and the method in which he answered all the
questions.
Representative FORD. I have no further questions.
Mr. DULLES. I have no further questions.
Thank you very much. You have
been very full, very frank, very helpful.
Mr. CHAYEB. I am glad to do what I can.
TESTIMONY

OF

BERNICE

WATERMAN

Mr. DULLEB. Would you kindly rise and raise your right hand.
Do you swear the testimony you will give before this Commission is the
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God?
Miss WATEBMAN. I do.
Mr. DULLES. Would you please advise Miss Waterman of the general purpose
of the testimony we will ask of her.
Mr. COLEMAN. Miss Waterman was with the Department of State until 1962,
at which time she retired.
Miss Waterman was the adjudicator
in the Oswald
case, and she is being called to testify with respect to certain memorandums and
actions she took in connection with Lee Harvey Oswald.
These actions dealt
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